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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

PHILLIP STEWART, ANTHONY 
SMITH, DARKO TRAJCEV, 
LAWRENCE CRAIG, KEITH M. 
HARRIS, SCOTT HEJDUK, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

A2B CARGO INC, A2B CARGO 
LOGISTICS INC, KSM CARRIER 
GROUP INC, and LINCOLN STATE 
LEASING, LLC, f/k/a LINCOLN 
STATE HOLDING LLC, 

Defendants. 

Case No. 

Hon.   

Jury Demand 

Class Action Complaint 

Plaintiffs, Phillip Stewart, Anthony Smith, Darko Trajcev, Lawrence 

Craig, Keith M. Harris, and Scott Hejduk, bring this action seeking 

monetary and equitable relief on behalf of themselves and all others 

similarly situated against Defendants A2B Cargo Inc, A2B Cargo 

Logistics Inc, KSM Carrier Group Inc, and Lincoln State Leasing, LLC, 

and allege as follows: 

Nature of the Action 

1. This is a class action brought by Plaintiffs, as class

representatives on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, 

arising from Defendants’ conduct and business practices in violation of 

49 U.S.C. § 14102(a) and regulations promulgated thereunder at 49 
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C.F.R. §§ 376.01, et seq.. Plaintiffs bring this action pursuant to 49 

U.S.C. § 14704(a)(2) and state common law for damages and equitable 

relief. 

Subject Matter Jurisdiction and Venue 

2. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, which grants the district courts of the 

United States “original jurisdiction of all civil actions arising under the 

Constitution, laws, or treaties of the United States.” Plaintiffs bring 

claims arising under the laws of the United States regulating the 

activities of motor carriers involved in interstate commerce.  

3. This Court has jurisdiction over the remaining state law claims 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367, which provides for “supplemental 

jurisdiction over all other claims that are so related to claims in the 

action within such original jurisdiction that they form a part of the same 

case or controversy under Article III of the United States Constitution.” 

4. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) 

and (c) and 1400 because Defendants are located in this district and a 

substantial portion of the facts giving rise to this claim occurred in this 

district. Defendants are three Illinois corporations and an Illinois limited 

liability company. 
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Parties to the action and personal jurisdiction 

5. Plaintiff Phillip Stewart is a Missouri resident. Stewart first 

contracted with KSM in September 2018 as an independent contractor. 

Stewart leased equipment from Defendants through Lincoln State.  

6. Plaintiff Anthony Smith is a Tennessee resident. Smith contracted 

with A2B1 and was acting as an independent contractor for A2B in 2019. 

Smith leased equipment from Defendants through Lincoln State. 

7. Plaintiff Darko Trajcev is a Plainfield, Will County, Illinois, 

resident. Trajcev contracted with A2B and was acting as an independent 

contractor for A2B in 2015-2016. Trajcev owned his trucks and did not 

lease them from Defendants. 

8. Plaintiff Lawrence Craig is a Georgia resident. Craig contracted 

with A2B and was acting as an independent contractor for A2B in 2018. 

Craig leased equipment from Defendants through Lincoln State. 

9. Plaintiff Keith M. Harris is a Georgia resident. Harris contracted 

with A2B and was acting as an independent contractor for A2B in 

Cumming, Georgia. Harris leased equipment from Defendants through 

Lincoln State. 

 

1 Since the parties’ agreement was not written and statements from A2B 
did not typically specify whether they were coming from A2B or A2B 
Logistics, Plaintiffs have named both entities.  
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10. Plaintiff Scott Hejduk is a Texas resident. Hejduk contracted with 

A2B and was acting as an independent contractor for A2B in Texas. 

Hejduk leased equipment from Defendants through Lincoln State. 

11. Defendant A2B Cargo Inc is an Illinois corporation with its 

principal place of business at 2216 W. 167th St., Markham, Cook County, 

Illinois. Its registered agent is Srejovic Accounting Services, Ltd., located 

at 2340 S. River Rd., Suite 208, Des Plaines, IL 60018. A2B is a 

registered with the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration as a 

motor carrier under USDOT number 2579900. The President and 

Secretary of A2B Cargo is Nikica Mitev, a resident of Chicago, Illinois. 

This Court has personal jurisdiction over A2B pursuant to Federal Rule 

of Civil Procedure 4 and 735 ILCS 5/2-209(b). 

12. Defendant A2B Cargo Logistics Inc is an Illinois corporation with 

its principal place of business at 2216 W. 167th St., Markham, Cook 

County, Illinois. Its registered agent is Srejovic Accounting Services, Ltd., 

located at 2340 S. River Rd., Suite 208, Des Plaines, IL 60018. A2B 

Logistics is registered with the Federal Motor Carrier Safety 

Administration as a broker under USDOT number 3185726. The 

President of A2B Logistics is Michael Bartoszaki, a resident of Dyer, 

Indiana. This Court has personal jurisdiction over A2B Logistics 

pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 4 and 735 ILCS 5/2-209(b). 

13. Defendant KSM Carrier Group Inc is an Illinois corporation with 

its principal place of business at 2011 N. Griffith Blvd., Suite B, Griffith, 

Case: 1:20-cv-00278 Document #: 1 Filed: 01/14/20 Page 4 of 59 PageID #:1



5 
 

Indiana. Its registered agent is Srejovic Accounting Services, Ltd., located 

at 2340 S. River Rd., Suite 208, Des Plaines, IL 60018. KSM is registered 

with the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration as a Carrier under 

USDOT number 2641210. The President of KSM is Mihail Krsteski, who 

resides in Chicago, Illinois. This Court has personal jurisdiction over 

KSM pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 4 and 735 ILCS 5/2-

209(b). 

14. Defendant, Lincoln State Leasing LLC2, is an Illinois limited 

liability company with its principal place of business at 355 E. Ohio Ave., 

Apartment 4902, Chicago, IL 60611. Its registered agent is Srejovic 

Accounting Services, Ltd., located at 2340 S. River Rd., Suite 208, Des 

Plaines, IL 60018. Its President is Nikola Shterjov, who resides in 

Chicago, Illinois. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Lincoln State 

pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 4 and 735 ILCS 5/2-209(b). 

15. On information and belief, all referrals to drivers from A2B, A2B 

Logistics and KSM for financing to purchase a truck go to Lincoln State. 

16. On information and belief, the four Defendants have overlapping 

officers and directors or members and share personnel, technology, and 

 

2 Although the leases between at least some of the Plaintiffs and the 
members of the class and Lincoln State list Lincoln State Leasing, Inc. as 
the Lessor, that entity was involuntarily dissolved in 2007, before 
Plaintiffs and the members of the class entered into their leases. Based 
on the identity of the manager, on information and belief, Lincoln State 
Leasing LLC is a party to the lease agreements described herein.  
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equipment. On information and belief, the companies have common 

ownership and control and are therefore affiliated for purposes of the 

Motor Carriers Act and regulations promulgated under that act. 

Facts common to all counts 

17. Plaintiffs and the members of the class are commercial truck 

drivers, each of whom entered into an oral agreement to drive trucks as 

owner/operator independent contractors for A2B, A2B Logistics or KSM. 

They were given term sheets describing the terms of their agreements. An 

example of a term sheet is attached hereto as Exhibit 1. Plaintiffs 

Stewart, Smith, Craig, Harris and Hejduk all leased equipment from 

Lincoln State for the purposes of transporting property in interstate 

commerce for Defendants. Plaintiff Trajcev owned his own trucks which 

he used for the purpose of transporting property in interstate commerce 

for Defendants. 

18. The terms of the oral agreements with Defendants, as set forth in 

the term sheets, were: 1) Plaintiffs and the members of the class would 

be given opportunities to drive various loads for Defendants in trucks 

provided by Plaintiffs and the members of the class, and would be paid a 

percentage of the gross revenue collected from the shipper for those 

loads; 2) Defendants would deduct from amounts due to Plaintiffs and 

the members of the class any lease payments owed to Lincoln State, 

money for physical and occupational insurance, money toward the 

deposit on the leased truck, if appropriate, trailer rent that the 
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owner/operator was expected to pay, an amount for use of Defendants’ 

electronic systems (E log), an amount to pay for the registration of the 

truck, and an amount for an unexplained escrow. See Exhibit 1.  

19. Plaintiffs and the members of the class also were obligated to pay 

fuel charges. 

20. Plaintiffs and class members who leased their equipment from 

Lincoln State all entered into written lease agreements substantially 

similar to the one entered into by Stewart which is attached hereto as 

Exhibit 2. The leases provided a set term, typically one year, but were 

automatically renewed for one-year periods thereafter unless terminated. 

Ex. 2, ¶ 2. 

21. The leases provided for rent payments and referred to “advance 

rent,” but did not contain any provision describing this term or 

indicating a rate or amount to be paid. Ex. 2, ¶ 3 and Schedule B. 

22.  The leases specifically indicated that they were leases, not sales 

(Ex. 2, ¶ 4), which contradicted the term sheet which indicated that at 

the end of a period of years of paying the lease payments, the 

owner/operator would own the truck without further payment. Ex. 1. 

This also contradicted the term sheet where it indicated that Defendants 

would hold back amounts to be applied to a deposit on the equipment. 

23. The leases provided that the driver lessee was responsible for 

maintenance of the vehicle, and to reimburse Lincoln State for insurance 

on the vehicle to be provided by Lincoln State. Ex. 2, ¶¶ 6-7 and 
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Schedule C. The leases did not provide that the drivers would have to 

maintain any kind of escrow account. Stewart’s lease indicated that he 

was making $0 “Secure deposit” (Ex. 2, Schedule B), yet, his term sheet 

provided for a deposit payment of $135.00 per week for twenty weeks. 

Ex. 1. 

24. When a commercial truck driver enters into an owner/operatpr 

independent contractor agreement to drive a truck for a carrier, the 

assignment of a load leaves an extensive paper trail. First, the carrier 

subscribes to one or more services that collect information regarding 

loads that various shippers are trying to ship, and which are available to 

a carrier. The carrier sees where the load will originate, where it’s going, 

the price the shipper is willing to pay (which is sometimes dictated by 

tariffs), the estimated time of arrival and departure, and the weight of the 

load. This information is typically contained in an electronic document 

called a load tender. 

25. When a driver accepts a load from the carrier, the load tender is 

typically forwarded to the driver. The price is represented as a rate per 

mile driven and contains provisions for any fuel surcharge or other 

charges such as stop-off charges.  

26. Defendants did not provide Plaintiffs and the members of the 

class with load tender documents or other documents containing the 

information from the load tender. 
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27. Once a driver confirms acceptance of a load tender, typically, a 

rate and load confirmation is generated by the carrier and sent to the 

driver. This document also contains a quote for the total amount the 

driver will receive for the delivery. 

28.  Defendants did not provide Plaintiffs and the members of the 

class with rate and load confirmation documents or other documents 

containing the information from the rate and load confirmation. 

29. With the rate and load confirmation, or separately, a driver 

receives a copy of the bill of lading. This document contains information 

about the shipment, but it does not contain information about the rate 

for the delivery or the amount to be paid to the driver. This document is 

signed by the shipper and receiver and is submitted to the carrier as 

proof of completion of the delivery. 

30. Defendants provided Plaintiff and the members of the class with 

bills of lading for each trip and Plaintiffs and the members of the class 

submitted the signed documents to Defendants for each trip. 

31. Finally, the carrier typically provides a statement to the driver, 

weekly or as otherwise agreed, showing the trips the driver took for that 

period, the rate paid by the shipper for delivery and for any incidental 

charges such as fuel surcharges, the percentage of such charges being 

remitted to the driver and any amounts deducted from the driver’s share. 

32. Defendants provided Plaintiffs and the members of the class with 

weekly statements substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 3. 
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These statements did not contain the rate the shipper paid for the trip, 

they only contained a total price for the trip. They did not contain any 

breakdown indicating the additional charges paid by the shipper such as 

fuel surcharges. The statements did not itemize all deductions from the 

driver’s pay. Unexplained entries were used, such as “Total Deductions.” 

Class action allegations 

33. Class description. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of 

themselves and all similarly-situated owner-operators and independent 

contractors that conducted business with Defendants for any period of 

time beginning January 1, 2015, and continuing to present. 

34. Impracticability of joinder. Upon information and belief, hundreds 

of owner-operators contracted with Defendants during the relevant class 

period. These owner-operators are residents of various states, including 

at least the following: Illinois, Florida, Georgia, Missouri, North Carolina, 

South Carolina, Tennessee, and Texas. These individuals travel 

continuously for their work. As a result, joinder of all potential class 

members would be impracticable. 

35. Commonality. Defendants have acted in a way that affects all 

members of the proposed class similarly, giving rise to common 

questions of law and fact. The agreements entered into by Plaintiffs are 

materially identical to the agreements entered into by all potential class 

members. As a result, findings that the agreements entered into by 

Plaintiffs violate federal regulations, that Defendants breached the 
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agreements, and that Defendants improperly converted Plaintiffs’ funds 

to their own use would apply to all the potential class members.  

36. Typicality. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims belonging to 

the proposed class as a whole because each Plaintiff, like each class 

member, entered into a materially similar agreement with Defendants. 

The ways in which that agreement violated federal law, they ways in 

which Defendants breached the agreements and converted funds will be 

the same for Plaintiffs and the class. Plaintiffs do not bring any claims 

unique to their individual situations. 

37. Fair and adequate representation. The Plaintiffs will fairly and 

adequately protect the interests of all class members because their 

claims are common to the class and the proof required to establish 

liability will serve to establish liability for all class members. While the 

individual claims are not insignificant, falling in the tens of thousands of 

dollars range and higher, it would be difficult and not cost effective for 

Plaintiffs and the members of the class to bring their claims individually. 

The interests of Plaintiffs, thus, are aligned with all other class members.  

38. Plaintiffs have retained Patterson Law Firm, LLC to represent 

them and the interests of all class members in this matter. Patterson Law 

Firm has substantial experience litigating claims such as those raised 

herein. Lead attorney Kristi L. Browne has more than fifteen years’ 

experience prosecuting class actions. 
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39. Class certification under Rule 23(b)(1). Prosecuting separate 

actions would create a risk of inconsistent adjudications regarding issues 

such as whether Defendants are authorized commercial carriers subject 

to the Motor Carriers Act; whether the agreement between defendants 

and the drivers was a lease governed by the Act and the regulations 

promulgated thereunder; whether Defendants were required by the Act to 

enter into written leases with the drivers; the terms of the leases so 

required; whether Defendants’ policies and practices breached the 

agreements and resulted in improper conversion of drivers’ funds. As a 

practical matter, adjudication of these issues for Plaintiffs would be 

dispositive of other potential class members not party to the individual 

actions and would impair their ability to protect their interests. 

40. Class certification under Rule 23(b)(2). Defendants have acted on 

grounds that apply generally to the class, so that final injunctive or 

declaratory relief is appropriate respecting the class as a whole. 

Defendants do not have written lease agreements with any of the 

members of the proposed class and their policies and practices are 

uniformly applied to independent contractor drivers. 

41. Class certification under Rule 23(b)(3). The questions of law and 

fact raised in the claims described herein predominate over any 

individual issues of law or fact. Individual issues are primarily limited to 

the amount of damages suffered by each class member. The conduct 

giving rise to those damages and subjecting Defendants to liability is 
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common to all class members. The damages can be calculated for the 

class as a whole by using a statistical sampling from Defendants’ records 

and damages for individual claims can also be calculated from 

Defendants’ records. 

42. The class action is superior to other available methods for fairly 

and efficiently adjudicating the controversy in that (1) damages suffered 

by individual owner-operators may be small such that those individuals 

may not find it cost-effective to bring a separate lawsuit, but the 

misconduct by Defendants is no less egregious; (2) Plaintiffs have not 

identified any pending or prior litigation against Defendants raising these 

same issues; (3) concentrating all claims in this forum, where all 

defendants reside and conduct business, is desirable to achieve 

efficiencies and conserve judicial resources that would otherwise be 

necessary to resolve numerous such suits in district courts across the 

country; and (4) no substantial difficulties are likely to be encountered in 

managing this class action. 

Count I: Violation of 49 U.S.C. §§ 14102(a) and regulations promulgated 
thereunder at 49 C.F.R. §§ 376.01, et seq. against all Defendants 
 

43. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-42, as though 

fully set forth herein. 

44. Defendants A2B and KSM are authorized motor carriers in that 

they provide motor vehicle transportation for compensation and are 

authorized to engage in the transportation of property as motor carriers 
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under the provisions of the Motor Carriers Act. 49 U.S.C. § 13102(14); 49 

C.F.R. § 376.2(a). Defendants provide such services in interstate 

commerce 

45. Defendant A2B Logistics is an authorized broker under the 

provisions of the Motor Carriers Act and regulations promulgated 

thereunder. 

46. Authorized carriers can only perform authorized transportation 

using equipment they do not own under the terms set forth in 49 C.F.R. 

§ 376.11, with certain exceptions not relevant to this case. The relevant 

terms are that there must be a written lease of the equipment to be used 

for the carrier; and specific documentation requirements must be met by 

the carrier. 49 C.F.R. § 376.11. 

47. The written lease must contain certain specific provisions 

pursuant to 49 C.F.R. § 376.12. 

48. In this case, Plaintiffs and the members of the class entered into 

oral lease agreements with Defendants, not written lease agreements. 

The Defendants’ failure to put the lease terms in writing is a violation of 

49 U.S.C. § 14102(a)(1) and 49 C.F.R. § 376.11.  

49. When they entered into oral agreements to lease their equipment 

to Defendants, Plaintiffs and the members of the class received a one-

page term sheet substantially similar to the one Stewart received, which 

is attached hereto as Exhibit 1. To the extent that this document 
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constituted the lease agreement between the parties, it was unsigned in 

violation of 49 U.S.C. § 14102(a)(1) and 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(l). 

50. Plaintiffs and the members of the class who entered into leases 

with Lincoln State either had the right to exclusive use of the equipment 

leased from Lincoln State or had lawful possession of the equipment 

registered and licensed in their name. Plaintiffs and the members of the 

class are all owners of the equipment leased to Defendants, as defined in 

49 C.F.R. § 386.2(d).  

51. Defendants had exclusive possession, control, and use of the 

equipment leased to them by Plaintiffs and the members of the class for 

the duration of the leases, consistent with 49 C.F.R. § 376.12. Plaintiffs 

and the members of the class were only allowed to use the equipment in 

connection with deliveries assigned by Defendants. 

52. The leases between Plaintiffs and the members of the class and 

Defendants as authorized motor carriers, as represented by the term 

sheet, failed to contain the following required terms: 

a. The lease is made between the authorized carrier and the owner 

of the equipment and signed by the parties, as required by 49 

C.F.R. § 376.12(a);  

b. The start date, end date, and duration of the lease, as required by 

49 C.F.R. § 376.12(b); 

c. The authorized carrier lessee shall have exclusive possession, 

control and use of the equipment during the lease and shall 
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assume complete responsibility for the operation of the equipment 

during the lease, as required by 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(c); 

d. The amount to be paid by Defendants for equipment and delivery 

services, and that those terms would be delivered to the drivers 

before every trip, in violation of 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(d); 

e. Which party is responsible for the removal of identification 

devices from the equipment on termination of the lease, in 

violation of 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(e); 

f. The responsibility of each party for the cost of fuel, fuel taxes, 

empty mileage, permits of all types, tolls, ferries, detention and 

accessorial charges, base plates, and licenses and any unused 

portion of any of these at the termination of the lease, in violation 

of 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(e); 

g. Who is responsible for loading and unloading the property onto 

and off the truck and the compensation for this service, if any, in 

violation of 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(e); 

h. Defendants assumed the risk of costs and fines for overweight 

and oversize trailers when the loading of the trailers was outside 

of the drivers’ control, in violation of 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(e); 

i. If Defendants were entitled to a refund or credit for base plates 

purchased by the drivers or if the base plates can be sold by 

Defendants, Defendants will refund a prorated share of the 

amount received, in violation of 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(e); 
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j. Payment to the driver would be made within fifteen days after 

submission of the necessary delivery documents, in violation of 

49 C.F.R. § 376.12(f); 

k. The authorized carrier will give driver, before or at the time of 

settlement, a copy of the rated freight bill or any other form of 

documents actually used for shipment containing the same 

information that would be on a rated freight bill; and the driver 

can examine the carrier’s documents from which rates and 

charges are computed, in violation of 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(g); 

l. A specification of all items that may be initially paid for by the 

authorized carrier, but deducted from the driver’s compensation 

at the time of payment or settlement, together with a recitation as 

to how each item is to be computed; and the driver shall be 

afforded copies of documents necessary to determine the validity 

of the charges, in violation of 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(h); 

m. The driver is not required to purchase or rent anything from the 

carrier as a condition of entering into the lease arrangement; and 

specific terms of any agreement in which the driver is a party to 

an equipment purchase or rental contract which gives Defendants 

the right to make deductions from the driver’s compensation for 

purchase or rental payments, in violation of 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(i); 

n. The legal obligation of the carrier to maintain insurance coverage 

for the protection of the public and who is responsible for 
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providing any other insurance; and Defendants will provide 

drivers with proof of insurance including the details of the policy 

and carrier, the cost to Defendants of each type of coverage and 

any deductible for which the driver may be liable, in violation of 

49 C.F.R. § 376.12(j)(1) & (2); 

o. The specific conditions under which deductions for cargo or 

property damage may be made from driver’s settlements, in 

violation of 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(j)(3); 

p. The amount of any escrow fund required to be paid by the driver 

and the specific items to which the escrow fund can be applied, in 

violation of 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(k)(1) & (2); 

q. Carrier shall provide an accounting to the driver of any 

transactions involving the escrow fund and the driver is entitled 

to have an accounting of transactions involving the escrow fund 

at any time, in violation of 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(k)(3) & (4); 

r. Carrier shall pay interest on the escrow fund at least on a 

quarterly basis at least equal to the average yield on 91-day, 13-

week Treasury bills, in violation of 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(k)(5); 

s. The conditions the driver must fulfill to have the escrow funds 

returned; carrier will provide a final accounting to the driver of all 

deductions made from the escrow fund; and in no event will the 

escrow fund be returned later than 45 days from the date of 

termination, in violation of 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(k)(6). 
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53. Defendants’ failure to adhere to and perform any of the required 

lease terms is a violation of 49 C.F.R. § 376.12 and 49 U.S.C. § 

14102(a)(1). 

54. The term sheet provided by Defendants to Plaintiffs and the 

members of the class did not contain any indication of the amount to be 

paid by Defendants to Plaintiffs and the members of the class for 

equipment and delivery services. Plaintiffs and the members of the class 

understood they were to receive a certain percentage of the gross revenue 

Defendants received from shippers. Those percentages are reflected on 

some of the statements Defendants provided to Plaintiffs (Exhibit 3), but 

not on others (Exhibit 3). 

55. Defendants did not disclose the rate per mile or contract rates 

paid by shippers for the loads delivered by Plaintiffs and the members of 

the class. Instead, in their weekly statements, Defendants listed a round 

number for the total fee purportedly paid by the shipper. 

56.   This number did not represent the total amount the shipper had 

agreed to pay for the shipment as indicated on the DAT board that 

Defendants represented was the basis for the shipping rates they 

received. 

57. The rates Defendants put in the weekly statements did not 

include fuel surcharges, stop off fees and other charges paid by the 

shippers. 
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58. As a proximate result of Defendants’ violations of 49 C.F.R. § 

376.12(d), by not disclosing in a written lease the amount to be paid to 

Defendants, Plaintiffs and the members of the class were unable to 

detect the disparity between what Defendants had agreed to pay and 

what they did pay, resulting in damages of the difference between the two 

plus the designated percentage of other fees such as fuel surcharges and 

stop off fees that should have been paid to Plaintiffs and the members of 

the class.  

59. As a proximate result of Defendants’ violation of 49 C.F.R. § 

376.12(g) by not providing Plaintiffs and the members of the class with 

documents containing the information regarding shipping rates and 

charges, Plaintiffs and the members of the class were damaged in the 

amount of the difference between their percentage of the actual shipping 

charges and those represented to them in the weekly statements. 

60. Plaintiff Stewart repeatedly demanded that he be provided with 

this information, but Defendants refused. 

61. In addition to the deductions Defendants took from each payment 

to Plaintiffs and the members of the class as indicated in the term 

sheets, Defendants also deducted heavy vehicle use taxes, cargo 

insurance, fuel taxes, drug tests, parking, pre-pass service, registration, 

tolls, undefined service fees and other charges from the pay of the 

Plaintiffs and the members of the class, without consent. 
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62. As a proximate result of Defendants’ violations of 49 C.F.R. § 

376.12(e) & (h), by not designating in the lease agreement who would be 

responsible for these charges, specifying all items that would be initially 

paid for by Defendants and then deducted from the pay of Plaintiffs and 

the members of the class and providing information regarding how these 

amounts were calculated and documents from which those calculations 

could be checked, Plaintiffs and the members of the class were damaged 

by having these charges deducted from their pay. 

63. As a proximate result of Defendants’ violation of 49 C.F.R. § 

376.12(e), by not giving Plaintiffs and the members of the class a refund 

of amounts representing the unused portion of base plate fees, Plaintiffs 

and the members of the class were damaged in the amount of the 

retained refunds to which they were entitled. 

64. As a proximate result of Defendants’ violation of 49 C.F.R. § 

376.12(j), by not designating in the lease who was responsible for cargo 

insurance and not providing Plaintiffs and the members of the class with 

documents showing the cost of all insurance charged to them, Plaintiffs 

and the members of the class were damaged in the amount of all charges 

for cargo insurance deducted from their pay and in the amount of the 

difference between the actual amount paid for physical and occupational 

insurance and the amount charged to Plaintiffs and the members of the 

class. 
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65. As a proximate result of Defendants’ violation of 49 C.F.R. § 

376.12(k), by not disclosing to Plaintiffs and the members of the class the 

specific items to which escrow funds could be applied, not providing an 

accounting of any transactions involving the escrow fund, not disclosing 

that Plaintiffs and the members of the class could demand such an 

accounting, and not paying interest on the escrow funds, Plaintiffs and 

the members of the class have been damaged in the amount of any 

deduction from the escrow fund of an undisclosed item and the amount 

of interest that was required to be paid to them on the escrow funds. 

66. As a proximate result of Defendants’ violation of 49 C.F.R. § 

376.12(k)(6), by not providing a final accounting of all deductions made 

from the escrow fund and returning the fund within 45 days, Plaintiffs 

and the members of the class were damaged in the amount of escrow 

funds improperly retained and in the amount represented by the time 

value of the escrow funds not returned at all or returned after 45 days. 

Wherefore, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter 

judgment in their favor and against Defendants and grant the following 

relief: 

a. Certify this action as a class action on behalf of the class 

described above; 

b. Appoint Plaintiffs as class representatives and Plaintiffs’ counsel 

as counsel for the class; 
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c. Award Plaintiffs a sum sufficient to compensate them for their 

time and effort in bringing and prosecuting this action; 

d. Enter a declaratory judgement that the oral lease agreements 

entered into between Defendants and Plaintiffs and the members 

of the class violate 49 U.S.C. § 14102(a)(1) and 49 C.F.R. §§ 

376.11 and 376.12;  

e. Award Plaintiffs and the members of the class damages as 

described above; 

f. Award Plaintiffs’ attorney fees and costs to be paid for by 

Defendants pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 14704(e); 

g. Such other and further relief as the Court deems just.   

Count II: Breach of contract against Defendants A2B Cargo Inc, A2B Cargo 
Logistics, Inc and KSM Carrier Group Inc 
 

67. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference Paragraphs 1 through 66 as 

though fully set forth herein. 

68. Defendants made offers to Plaintiffs and the members of the 

class, as evidence by the term sheets, to pay them as independent 

contractors for transporting cargo. 

69. Plaintiffs and the members of the class accepted the offers. 

70. Under the terms of the oral agreements: 1) Plaintiffs and the 

members of the class would be given opportunities to drive various loads 

for Defendants in trucks provided by Plaintiffs and the members of the 

class, and would be paid a percentage (as reflected in the statements, 
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examples of which are attached hereto as Exhibit 3) of the gross revenue 

collected from the shipper for those loads; 2) Defendants would deduct 

from amounts due to Plaintiffs and the members of the class any lease 

payments owed to Lincoln State, money for insurance physical and 

occupational insurance, money toward the deposit on the leased truck, if 

appropriate, trailer rent that the owner/operator was expected to pay, an 

amount for use of Defendants’ electronic system (E log), and an amount 

for an unexplained escrow. See Exhibit 1. Plaintiffs and the members of 

the class were responsible for fuel costs and maintenance and repair of 

their trucks 

71. Plaintiffs and the members of the class fully performed their 

obligations under the agreements and performed all conditions precedent 

to Defendants’ performance under the agreements. 

72. Defendants did not disclose the rate per mile or contract rate paid 

by the shippers for the loads delivered by Plaintiffs and the members of 

the class. Instead, in their weekly statements, Defendants listed a round 

number for the total fee purportedly paid by the shipper. 

73.   This number did not represent the total amount the shipper had 

agreed to pay for the shipment as indicated on the DAT board that 

Defendants represented was the basis for the shipping rates they 

received. 
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74. The rates Defendants put in the weekly statements did not 

include fuel surcharges, stop off fees and other charges paid by the 

shippers. 

75. Defendants breached their agreements with Plaintiffs and the 

members of the class by not paying the amounts agreed to under the 

agreements. 

76. In addition to the deductions Defendants would take from each 

payment to Plaintiffs and the members of the class as indicated in the 

term sheets, Defendants also deducted heavy vehicle use taxes, cargo 

insurance, fuel taxes, drug tests, parking, pre-pass service, tolls, 

undefined service fees and other charges from the pay of the Plaintiffs 

and the members of the class, without their consent. 

77. Defendants breached their agreements with Plaintiffs and the 

members of the class by deducting these items from their pay without 

their consent. 

78. Defendants did not provide an accounting of all deductions made 

from the escrow funds and in breach of their agreements with Plaintiffs 

and the members of the class did not return the balance left in the fund 

at the time of termination of the agreements. 

79. As a proximate result of these breaches of contract, Plaintiffs and 

the members of the class have been damaged in the amount of the 

unpaid shipping rates, items improperly withheld from their pay and the 

unreturned balance in their escrow accounts. 
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Wherefore, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter 

judgment in their favor and against Defendants and grant the following 

relief: 

a. Certify this action as a class action on behalf of the class 

described above; 

b. Appoint Plaintiffs as class representatives and Plaintiffs’ counsel 

as counsel for the class; 

c. Award Plaintiffs and the members of the class damages as 

described above; 

d. Award Plaintiffs a sum sufficient to compensate them for their 

time and effort in bringing and prosecuting this action; 

e. Order that the damages be placed in a common fund for 

distribution to the members of the class; 

f. Award Plaintiffs’ counsel attorney fees and expenses to be paid 

from the common fund; 

g. Such other and further relief as the court deems just.   

Count III: Unjust enrichment (in the alternative to breach of contract) 
against Defendants A2B Cargo Inc, A2B Cargo Logistics, Inc and KSM 
Carrier Group Inc 
 

80. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference Paragraphs 1 through 79 as 

though fully set forth herein. 

81. Plaintiffs and the members of the class provided a benefit to 

Defendants by agreeing to transport freight and transporting freight 

resulting in Defendants collecting fees for the transport. 
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82. In exchange, Defendants agreed to compensate Plaintiffs and the 

members of the class a certain amount. 

83. Defendants failed to compensate Plaintiffs and the members of 

the class as agreed and retained additional funds by misrepresenting the 

shipping rates and by retaining amounts for undisclosed expenses 

without the consent of Plaintiffs and the members of the class. 

84. Plaintiffs and the members of the class paid money into escrow 

funds held by Defendants to provide for repairs and maintenance to their 

vehicles. Defendants did not provide an accounting of all deductions 

made from the escrow funds collected from Plaintiffs and the members of 

the class and did not return the balance left of the funds at the time of 

termination of the relationships. 

85. Defendants retained the benefit of the services and the escrow 

funds of Plaintiffs and the members of the class to the detriment of 

Plaintiffs and the members of the class. Failure to fully compensate 

Plaintiffs and the members of the class for the services rendered and 

failure to account for deductions from the escrow funds and pay 

Plaintiffs and the members of the class the funds remaining on 

termination of their relationships violate principles of justice, equity, and 

good conscience. 

Wherefore, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter 

judgment in their favor and against Defendants and grant the following 

relief: 
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a. Certify this action as a class action on behalf of the class 

described above; 

b. Appoint Plaintiffs as class representatives and Plaintiffs’ counsel 

as counsel for the class; 

c. Order Defendants to disgorge all amounts wrongfully withheld 

from the compensation of Plaintiffs and the members of the class 

and award the disgorged funds to Plaintiffs and the members of 

the class; 

d. Award Plaintiffs a sum sufficient to compensate them for their 

time and effort in bringing and prosecuting this action; 

e. Order that the disgorged funds be placed in a common fund for 

distribution to the members of the class; 

f. Award Plaintiffs’ counsel attorney fees and expenses to be paid 

from the common fund; 

g. Such other and further relief as the court deems just.   

Count IV: Unjust enrichment against all Defendants 

86. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference Paragraphs 1 through 85 as 

though fully set forth herein. 

87. Defendants listed on the term sheets of Plaintiffs and the 

members of class amounts for “Deposit,” to be withheld from the 

compensation owed to Plaintiffs and the members of the class. 
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88. The leases entered into between Lincoln State and Plaintiffs and 

the members of the class specifically stated that they were not purchase 

agreements. 

89. In the lease agreements signed by Stewart and at least some of 

the members of the class, the “Secure deposit” that was supposed to be 

paid “prior to the beginning of the initial term” of the lease was listed as 

$0. Ex. 1 at Sched. B. Since any such deposit would have been due prior 

to the start of the lease term, the amounts listed on the term sheets 

could not have referred to this term of the leases. 

90.  Defendants wrongfully misrepresented on the term sheets that 

Plaintiffs and the members of the class would become the sole owners of 

the trucks they leased from Lincoln State and wrongfully withheld 

amounts from the pay owed to Plaintiffs and the members of the class for 

“deposits” toward the purchase of the equipment leased from Lincoln 

State. 

91. When Plaintiffs and the members of the class terminated their 

relationships with Defendants and returned the trucks, the deposits were 

not returned to them, regardless of how long or short the duration of the 

lease payments. 

92. Defendants retained the benefit of the deposits of Plaintiffs and 

the members of the class to the detriment of Plaintiffs and the members 

of the class. Retention of the deposits where Plaintiffs and the members 

of the class were not entitled under the terms of the leases to purchase 
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the trucks and did not purchase the trucks violates principles of justice, 

equity, and good conscience. 

Wherefore, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter 

judgment in their favor and against Defendants and grant the following 

relief: 

a. Certify this action as a class action on behalf of the class 

described above; 

b. Appoint Plaintiffs as class representatives and Plaintiffs’ counsel 

as counsel for the class; 

c. Order that Defendants disgorge all wrongfully retained deposits 

and award them to Plaintiffs and the members of the class; 

d. Award Plaintiffs a sum sufficient to compensate them for their 

time and effort in bringing and prosecuting this action; 

e. Order that the disgorged funds be placed in a common fund for 

distribution to the members of the class; 

f. Award Plaintiffs’ counsel attorney fees and expenses to be paid 

from the common fund; 

g. Such other and further relief as the court deems just.   

Count V: Conversion against all Defendants 

93. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference Paragraphs 1 through 92 as 

though fully set forth herein. 

94. Plaintiffs and the members of the class had an immediate right to 

possession of amounts earned for hauling certain freight for Defendants. 
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95. Defendants wrongfully withheld portions of compensation earned 

by Plaintiffs and the members of the class and prevented them from 

obtaining control over their money. 

96. Defendants refused to provide to Plaintiffs and the members of 

the class the full amount of compensation owed despite being in 

possession of the funds owed to Plaintiffs and the members of the class. 

97. Plaintiffs and the members of the class paid money into escrow 

funds held by Defendants to provide for repairs and maintenance to their 

vehicles. Defendants did not provide an accounting of all deductions 

made from the escrow funds collected from Plaintiffs and the members of 

the class and did not return unused escrow funds at the end of the 

relationships. 

98. Defendants combined for the purpose of wrongfully withholding 

earned funds from Plaintiffs and the members of the class. 

99. Defendants agreed that even though Lincoln State’s leases with 

Plaintiffs and the members of the class did not require escrow accounts 

for any reason, Defendants would deduct amounts from the pay owed to 

Plaintiffs and the members of the class to hold in escrow for repairs and 

maintenance on the trucks. 

100. Defendants wrongfully withheld amounts from the pay owed 

to Plaintiffs and the members of the class to hold in escrow for repairs 

and maintenance on the trucks.  
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101. Defendants refused to provide Plaintiffs and the members of 

the class with the remaining escrow funds at the time of termination of 

their relationships and improperly deducted amounts from the escrow 

funds without the consent of Plaintiffs and the members of the class. On 

information and belief, such wrongfully withheld amounts were shared 

among all Defendants. 

102. Defendants wrongfully withheld amounts from the pay owed 

to Plaintiffs and the members of the class for “deposits” toward the 

purchase of the equipment leased from Lincoln State. 

103. Defendants agreed that even though Lincoln State’s leases 

with Plaintiffs and the members of the class specifically stated that they 

were not purchase agreements, Defendants would wrongfully represent 

on the term sheets that Plaintiffs and the members of the class would 

become the sole owners of the trucks they leased from Lincoln State and 

would wrongfully withhold amounts from the pay owed to Plaintiffs and 

the members of the class for “deposits” toward the purchase of the 

equipment leased from Lincoln State. 

104. On information and belief, such deposits were shared among 

all Defendants.  

105. Such deposits were wrongfully retained by Defendants at the 

end of the relationships with Plaintiffs and the members of the class 

when they returned the trucks to Defendants. 
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106. Defendants intentionally and maliciously acted to deprive 

Plaintiffs of their earned compensation and their remaining escrow funds 

and money withheld as deposits on the purchase of the trucks leased 

from Lincoln State. 

107. Defendants’ conduct proximately caused damages to Plaintiffs 

and the members of the class in the amounts wrongfully withheld from 

their pay, as described above. 

Wherefore, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter 

judgment in their favor and against Defendants and grant the following 

relief: 

a. Certify this action as a class action on behalf of the class 

described above; 

b. Appoint Plaintiffs as class representatives and Plaintiffs’ counsel 

as counsel for the class; 

c. Award Plaintiffs and the members of the class damages as 

described above; 

d. Award Plaintiffs a sum sufficient to compensate them for their 

time and effort in bringing and prosecuting this action; 

e. Order that the damages be placed in a common fund for 

distribution to the members of the class; 

f. Award Plaintiffs’ counsel attorney fees and expenses to be paid 

from the common fund; 

g. Such other and further relief as the court deems just.   
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Dated: January 14, 2020  
 

Respectfully submitted,  
 
/s/ Kristi L. Browne 
Kristi L. Browne (6195553) 
Patterson Law Firm, LLC 
200 W. Monroe, Ste. 2025 
Chicago, IL 60606 
Tel.: 312-223-1699 
Fax: 312-223-8549 
kbrowne@pattersonlawfirm.com 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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Statement #6035
Stewart Logistic, LLC

12/31/2018
Unit #1523

(Phillip Stewart)

Stewart Logistic, LLC
334E Kearney #185
Springfield, MO 65803

Trips :

AmountDescriptionRouteTrip #Date

$200.00Detention
Chicago,IL-New Hope ,MN-Maplewood,MN-

Crookston,MN
28600.0012/05/18

$1,200.000.8000% of $1,500.00New Oxford,PA-Sutton,MA-Lynn,MA29162.0012/26/18

$48.00Stop offTaunton,MA-Coal Township,PA29207.0012/27/18

$800.000.8000% of $1,000.00Taunton,MA-Coal Township,PA29207.0012/27/18

$200.00DetentionHegins,PA-Fall River,MA29262.0012/28/18

$960.000.8000% of $1,200.00Hegins,PA-Fall River,MA29262.0012/28/18

$2,160.000.8000% of $2,700.00Fall River,MA-Kenosha,WI-Saint Louis,MO29299.0012/31/18

$5,568.00 Total:

Deductions :

AmountDateDescription

($255.00)12/29/18Advance

($126.75)12/31/18Toll Deductions(12/24/18-12/30/18)

($150.00)01/02/19Registration (9/10)

($531.75) Total:

AmountDateDescription

Scheduled Deductions :

($125.00)11/14/18Deposit

($125.00)11/14/18Escrow

($975.00)12/26/18Truck

($140.00)12/26/18Physical Insurance

($395.00)12/26/18Trailer

($50.00)12/26/18Occupational Insurance

($7.00)12/26/18PrePass Service

($21.50)12/26/18E Log

($1,838.50) Total:

AmountDateMisc. ($)Advance ($)Fuel ($)GallonsSt.CityDescription

Fuel Card :

($542.93)12/26/18$17.93$0.00$475.00133.47MASTURBRIDGE

($196.73)12/27/18$13.00$0.00$183.7350.21PAPINE GROVE

($306.64)12/29/18$13.79$0.00$179.9550.00RIWEST GREENWICH

($605.48)12/29/18$10.48$0.00$530.00167.78OHHUBBARD

KSM Carrier Group Inc.
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($1,651.78) Total:

$1,545.97Check Amount:

KSM Carrier Group Inc.
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Date: 6/16/2016

Statement #:

2101 S. Michigan Ave.# 2601 Chicago, IL 60616 P: (312) 690-3536

F: (312) 561-3736

Trk#: 105

Trl#: 0

Contractor/Comp: Maybach Logistics

Driver: Darko Trajcev

Address: 0

City / State / Zip: 0

Invoice #

Delivery

Date

Freight

Amount Amount

11444 6/07/2016 1,450.00$  1,305.00$   

11445 6/07/2016 1,800.00$  1,620.00$   

11445 6/08/2016 -$             

11446 6/10/2016 1,200.00$  1,080.00$   

11447 6/10/2016 600.00$     540.00$      

-$             

$5,050.00 4,545.00$   

State Date Fuel ($)

TN 6/06/2016 500.00$      

VA 6/09/2016 455.00$      

955.00$      

Date Amount

6/09/2016 225.00$      

6/09/2016 290.00$      

6/09/2016 250.00$      

765.00$      

2825FINAL CHECK AMOUNT

Description

Service Fee

Trailer Rent

Escrow(1/10)

SCHEDULED DEDUCTIONS

Staunton 186.552Pilot

Knoxville 184.5

Plainfield,IN 6/10/2016 Wood Dale,IL

FUEL

Description Location Gallons

Flying J

Pocomoce City,MD

Chesapeake,VA 6/08/2016 Bluffton,IN

Marietta,GA 6/06/2016 Fairfield,OH

Clayton,OH 6/07/2016 Landover,MD

STATEMENT

TRIPS
Pick-Up

Location

Pick-Up

Date

Delivery

Location
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Statement #6015
Anthony Smith

12/24/2018
Unit #218

(Anthony Smith)

Anthony Smith
11429 Alanridge Ln
Knoxville, TN 37932-3150

Trips :

AmountDescriptionRouteTrip #Date

$250.00LayoverMount Pleasant,TX-Sandston,VA28983.0012/20/18

$2,176.000.8000% of $2,720.00Mount Pleasant,TX-Sandston,VA28983.0012/20/18

$1,120.000.8000% of $1,400.00Williamsburg,VA-West Henrietta,NY29097.0012/21/18

$1,360.000.8000% of $1,700.00Avon,NY-Black Mountain,NC29151.0012/24/18

$4,906.00 Total:

Deductions :

AmountDateDescription

($655.00)12/13/18Advance (2/2)

($255.00)12/18/18Advance

($910.00) Total:

AmountDateDescription

Scheduled Deductions :

($200.00)11/21/18Maint. Acc

($975.00)12/12/18Truck

($270.00)12/12/18Trailer

($140.00)12/19/18Physical Insurance

($50.00)12/19/18Occupational Insurance

($7.00)12/19/18PrePass Service

($21.50)12/19/18E Log

($1,663.50) Total:

AmountDateMisc. ($)Advance ($)Fuel ($)GallonsSt.CityDescription

Fuel Card :

($73.24)12/16/18$0.00$0.00$73.2427.75TXDALLAS

($198.25)12/17/18$20.42$0.00$177.8366.38TXSULPHUR SPRINGS

($39.56)12/17/18$0.00$0.00$0.000.00TXSULPHUR SPRINGS

($357.70)12/18/18$8.27$0.00$300.5695.75ARWEST MEMPHIS

($234.84)12/20/18$4.61$0.00$230.2373.34VAPROVIDENCE FORGE

($142.54)12/21/18$0.00$0.00$142.5440.74NYBATH (KANONA AREA)

($491.00)12/22/18$24.37$0.00$360.25102.96NYBATH (KANONA AREA)

($1,537.13) Total:

A2B Cargo INC
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$795.37Check Amount:

A2B Cargo INC
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